THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUN 14 2019

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2018-001165 and 2018-002117

Commission Docket No. 2018-2-E

South Carolina Coastal Conservation
League and Southern Alliance for Clean
Energy,

Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Electric & Gas, CMC Steel
South Carolina, South Carolina Energy Users
Committee, South Carolina Solar Business
Alliance, LLC, Southern Current, LLC and
South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff,

Respondents;

and

South Carolina Solar Business Alliance, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Coastal Conservation
League and Southern Alliance for Clean

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the South Carolina Public Service Commission erred by shifting the burden of proof for establishing an “avoided capacity” rate from a regulated electric utility seeking that rate onto those challenging the rate.
2. Whether the Public Service Commission erred by approving a regulated electric utility’s elimination of avoided capacity rates without justifying that departure from past practice and without accounting for evidence demonstrating that such removal was unjust, unreasonable, and violated state law.
3. Whether the Public Service Commission erred when it allowed a regulated electric utility to discriminate against independent power producers by unjustifiably eliminating avoided capacity rates and by relying on a suboptimal resource plan, in violation of federal law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court on appeal from a decision by the Public Service Commission of South Carolina (the “Commission”) approving South Carolina Electric & Gas’s (“SCE&G” or “the Company”) most recent “avoided cost” rates paid for independently produced renewable energy. Setting accurate avoided cost rates is important because it determines whether solar power and other renewable energy facilities can compete with monopoly utilities and lower costs for South Carolina consumers.

Under the federal Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 (“PURPA”), the Commission must set rates paid to independent renewable power producers at the utility’s avoided cost of the next incremental unit of electricity that, but for the purchase from power from an independent renewable producer, the “utility would generate or purchase from another source.” 16 U.S.C. § 824a-3(d). Not only must those rates be just and reasonable under South Carolina law, S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-810, under federal law they must be just and reasonable, in the public interest, and not discriminatory against the independent renewable power producers, known as “qualifying facilities” (“QFs”), 16 U.S.C. § 824a-3(b); 18 C.F.R. § 292.304(a)(1).

The case began when the Commission initiated an annual review of SCE&G’s fuel purchasing practices, a proceeding in which the Commission also approves SCE&G’s avoided cost rates. (R. p. 219; Notice of Hearing and Prefile Testimony Deadlines).

Appellants, the South Carolina Coastal Conservation League and Southern Alliance for Clean Energy (collectively, the “Conservation Groups”), intervened in the docket,¹ as did CMC

¹ The Conservation Groups filed a petition to intervene on January 5, 2018, outlining their interests in the proceeding. The nonprofit South Carolina Coastal Conservation League “supports the development of energy policy that is in the public interest of South Carolinians” and has members across South Carolina who receive electricity service from SCE&G and are impacted by decisions regarding renewable energy and the recovery of avoided costs. (R. p. 228

Steel South Carolina, South Carolina Energy Users Committee, and South Carolina Solar Business Alliance, LLC (“SBA”) and Southern Current, LLC. The South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff (“ORS”) appeared in the docket as a statutory party.

After the parties pre-filed testimony, the Commission held an evidentiary hearing on April 10 and 11, 2018. The parties submitted post-hearing briefs and proposed orders on April 19, 2018.

The Commission issued a final order on April 30, 2018, and a revised order on May 2, 2018, approving SCE&G’s proposed avoided cost rates. (R. pp. 87-188; Order No. 2018-322; Order No. 2018-322(A)). The Conservation Groups, SBA, and ORS all petitioned for reconsideration of the Commission’s approval of SCE&G’s avoided cost rate and argued that the Commission had shifted the burden of showing that rate’s validity from the utility to those challenging it. The Commission granted reconsideration on separate grounds urged by intervenor South Carolina Energy Users Committee, but denied all other grounds and issued a written directive to that effect on May 23, 2018. (R. pp. 207-18; May 23, 2018 Directives). The Conservation Groups filed a Notice of Appeal on June 21, 2018.

SCE&G filed a motion to dismiss the appeal on June 26, 2018, arguing that the Conservation Groups had not appealed a final order and in the alternative asking to hold the appeal in abeyance. This Court denied the motion to dismiss and held the appeal in abeyance on August 16, 2018 pending the Commission’s final written order, which was issued on October 30,

¶ 6; Conservation Groups’ Petition to Intervene, p. 2). The nonprofit Southern Alliance for Clean Energy similarly has a mission “to promote responsible energy choices that create global warming solutions and ensure clean, safe and healthy communities throughout the Southeast.” (R. p. 229 ¶ 7; Conservation Groups’ Petition to Intervene, p. 3). Its members also receive electricity service from SCE&G and are interested in promoting greater reliance on clean energy resources, and therefore its members are impacted by the decisions made in this proceeding. The Commission granted the Conservation Groups’ petition on February 21, 2018. (R. p. 86; Order No. 2018-129).

2018. (R. pp. 189-94; Order No. 2018-708). The Conservation Groups timely amended their Notice of Appeal of the Commission's May 2, 2018 order, the May 23, 2018 directive, and the October 30, 2018 order on November 27, 2018.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The central issue in this appeal is whether the Commission erred in approving a regulated monopoly's artificially low rates for purchasing independently produced renewable power. PURPA,² the law being implemented by the Commission below, was enacted to prevent monopoly utility companies from stifling competition from competitive independently-produced renewable energy, including solar power. (R. p. 1289, line 4-p. 1,309, line 3; Tr. Vol. II, p. 659, l. 4 – p. 679, l. 3; p. 679, ll. 1-3).

Specifically, PURPA injects competition into monopolized energy markets by requiring incumbent utilities to pay independent renewable power plants at "avoided cost" rates that reflect the utility's marginal cost to produce that amount of power. (R. p. 821, lines 6-17; Tr. Vol. I, p. 191, ll. 6-17). If the avoided cost rate is set accurately, utility customers will be indifferent to whether power is generated by a QF or by the utility. If the avoided cost rate is set too low, however, customers will not realize the benefit provided by QFs and will pay more for incumbent utility power than they should. That is because arbitrarily low avoided costs rates deter QFs such as solar power providers from competing fairly against utility-owned resources to reduce ratepayer costs. (R. p. 1275, line 16-p. 1277, line 7; p. 1363, line 1-p. 1366, line 6; p. 1423, line 13-p. 1424, line 22; pp. 1446-53; Tr. Vol. II, pp. 645-647, 733-736, 793-794, 816-823), thus blocking the use of a cost-competitive resource that will drive down customer bills. *Id.*; (R. p. 1309, line 4-p. 1310, line 17; Tr. Vol. II, p. 679, l. 4 – p. 680, l. 17; p. 688, l. 21 – p.

² Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978, Pub. L. No. 95-617, 92 Stat. 3117 (codified as amended in scattered sections of 15, 16, 42, and 43 U.S.C.A.).

689, l. 5). Said another way, setting avoided cost rates too low means system costs will ultimately be too high because a utility's inefficient and overpriced resources are shielded from competition.

Avoided cost rates consist of several components. For example, the rates include the avoided marginal costs to generate energy (e.g., reduced fuel consumption and maintenance costs)—known as avoided “energy” costs. They also include the avoidance or deferral of capital investment into facilities (e.g., new fossil fuel plants)—known as “avoided capacity” costs. (R. p. 827, line 19-p. 828, line 11; Tr. Vol. I, p. 197, l. 19 – p. 198, l. 11). The rates must also take into account the avoidance of costs of meeting high, or “peak,” energy demand, e.g., when customers are running their air conditioners or heaters. 18 C.F.R. § 292.304(e)(2); Order No. 69, *Small Power Production and Cogeneration Facilities; Regulations Implementing Section 210 of PURPA*, 45 Fed. Reg. 12,214, 12,225 (1980).

Whereas in prior years SCE&G included both avoided energy and avoided capacity components in its avoided cost rates, in the proceeding subject to this appeal SCE&G changed course and completely eliminated the avoided capacity component. SCE&G took the position that QF capacity is zero because solar does not help the Company meet system demands on cold winter mornings. (R. p. 838, line 7-p. 842, line 9; Tr. Vol. I, p. 208, l. 7 – p. 212, l. 9). To make this change, SCE&G relied solely on an unreviewed internal study said to show that solar resources must provide capacity in those hours to be of *any* value to the Company. (R. p. 839, line 12-p. 840, line 2; Tr. Vol. I, p. 209, l. 12 – p. 210, l. 2).

This result and the method departed from prior practice that had been approved by the Commission for years. Comparison of the methodologies used in this proceeding and past proceedings makes plain this departure in approach to avoided capacity rates. In prior years

SCE&G used a three step methodology where it: 1) calculated the avoided capacity value over a 15-year planning horizon comparing the difference in revenue requirements between a base case and a change case;³ 2) identified the set of critical peak hours where energy would have a capacity value on the system and spread the avoided capacity cost across those hours, assigning 80% of the annual capacity cost to the summer; and 3) calculated a single avoided cost value based on the production of a typical solar photovoltaic system. (R. p. 1015, line 7-p. 1017, line 11; Tr. Vol. I, p. 385, l. 7 – p. 387, l. 11). In the proceeding below, by contrast, the Company simply assigned zero capacity value to solar, asserting that a resource must provide capacity in the winter in order to provide *any* capacity value. (R. p. 1017, lines 17-20; Tr. Vol. I, p. 387, ll. 17-20). Thus, QFs receive zero payments for capacity despite providing capacity value during long periods of peak summer capacity need. (R. p. 1083, lines 3-8; Tr. Vol. I, p. 453, ll. 3-8).

This appears to be the last move in a multi-year effort by SCE&G to lower payments for independently produced renewable energy: SCE&G has gutted its avoided capacity rates from \$21.34 per kW-year in 2016 to \$0 per kW-year in 2018. (R. p. 838, lines 14-15; p. 1,221, lines 20-21; Tr. Vol. I, p. 208, ll. 14-15; Tr. Vol. II, p. 591, ll. 20-22).

The Company's dramatic change in course to assign zero avoided capacity value for facilities that reliably produce energy over many peak hours in the summer months was criticized by all intervening parties that presented testimony. (R. pp. 1023-31; p. 1050, line 18-p. 1056, line 11; p. 1208, line 6-p. 1222, line 19; p. 1229, line 11-p. 1243, line 2; p. 1397, line 15-p. 1405, line 4; p. 1436; Tr. Vol. I, pp. 394-401, 420-426, Tr. Vol. II, pp. 578-592, 599-613, 768-775, 806). Parties recognized that the zero value has profound impacts on solar power producers and

³ The base case was defined as SCE&G's "existing fleet of generators and the hourly load profile to be supplied by these generators." (R. p. 375; Conservation Groups' Post-Hearing Brief, p. 10). "The change case was the same as the base case except that the hourly loads were reduced by 100 megawatts [] in each hour" *Id.*

other QFs' ability to compete with SCE&G-owned resources. (R. p. 1275, line 22-p. 1278; p. 1363, line 1-p. 1366, line 6; Tr. Vol. II, pp. 645-647, 733-736). As acknowledged by a dissenting Commissioner, the new artificially low rate will be disruptive "to the dynamic solar development" that has occurred in South Carolina since 2014. (R. p. 188; Order No. 2018-322(A), p. 51).

Intervening parties documented major flaws with SCE&G's approach and the underlying studies put forward to justify it. (R. p. 1024, line 10-p. 1025, line 22; p. 1046, line 3-p. 1051, line 2; p. 1053, lines 1-20; p. 1208, line 20-p. 1221, line 12; p. 1229, line 8-p. 1242, line 11; p. 1343, line 12-p. 1351, line 9; p. 1436; Tr. Vol. I, p. 394, l. 10 – p. 395, l. 22; p. 416, l. 3 – p. 421, l. 2; p. 423, ll. 1-20; Vol. II, p. 578, l. 20 – p. 591, l. 12; p. 599, l. 8 – p. 612, l. 11; p. 713, l. 12 – p. 721, l. 9; p. 806). SCE&G's own witness conceded that solar facilities can meet SCE&G's significant summer capacity needs, that the new claimed winter capacity need could be met with conservation and other measures, and that the Company's resource plan in fact shows a capacity value for solar power. (R. p. 841, line 1-p. 842, line 9; p. 1089, lines 4-6; p. 1585; p. 1639; Tr. Vol. I, pp. 211, l. 1 – p. 212, l. 9; p. 459, ll. 4-6; Hearing Exhibit 5, JML-4, p. 5; Hearing Exhibit 9, p. 40). Solar QFs provide capacity to meet peak demand on most days between May and September and on all days during the months of June and July. (R. p. 1585; Hearing Exhibit 5, JML-4, p. 5).

The Commission nonetheless accepted SCE&G's proposed avoided cost rates, despite the evidence intervenors introduced to demonstrate that they are unjust and unreasonable. In doing so, the Commission faulted the intervenors for failing to have produced their own modeling and calculations commensurate with SCE&G's modeling and calculations. But SCE&G uses a notoriously opaque calculation method known as Difference in Revenue Requirements ("DRR")

to present its avoided cost rates. (R. pp. 375-76; p. 1161, lines 16-23; p. 1317, line 2-p. 1320, line 17; p. 1321, line 3-p. 1322, line 14; p. 1325, line 11-p. 1326, line 1; Conservation Groups' Post-Hearing Brief, p. 11; Tr. Vol. II, p. 531, ll. 16-23; p. 687, l. 2 – p. 690, l. 17; p. 691, l. 3 – p. 692, l. 14; p. 695, l. 11 – p. 696, l. 1). SCE&G is the only utility in South Carolina to use this method, which does not allow other parties to model alternative rates unless they purchase a computer software license that costs tens of thousands of dollars and successfully obtain all of the modeling inputs in the less-than-45-day timeframe between the date of SCE&G's submission and their deadline to prepare responsive evidence. *See id.*; *infra*, p. 18, n.17; (R. p. 1025, lines 10-13; Tr. Vol. I, p. 395, ll. 10-13 (Conservation Groups' Witness Devi Glick Direct Testimony—"there were no documents provided in discovery that would allow one to replicate the calculations that the Company did last year using an updated resource plan to come up with an exact value.")). Intervenors' only recourse was to request that the Company "re-run" its DRR model using different inputs or methodological changes or using previously-approved DRR methods, but the Company did not respond. (R. p. 910, line 18-p. 912, line 3; p. 1120, line 4-p. 1,136, line 13; p. 1222, lines 1-3; Tr. Vol. I, p. 280, l. 18 – p. 282, l. 3; Tr. Vol. II, p. 490, l. 4 – p. 506, l. 13; p. 592, ll. 1-3). When the Conservation Groups requested (twice) that the Commission order SCE&G to provide calculations in accordance with prior approved methods, the Commission declined. (R. pp. 202-03; pp. 198-01; p. 1130, line 22-p. 1136, line 13; Order No. 2018-44H; Order No. 2018-42H; Tr. Vol. II, p. 500, l. 22 – p. 506, l. 13).

Despite their inability to obtain timely or complete information from SCE&G, intervenors submitted alternatives to SCE&G's proposed avoided cost rates that would comply with state and federal law and accurately compensate QFs. (R. p. 1221, line 15-p. 1222, line 11; p. 1242, line 15-p. 1243, line 2; p. 1398, line 13-p. 1405, line 12; Tr. Vol. II, p. 591, l. 15 – p.

592, l. 11; p. 612, l. 15 – p. 613, l. 2, 768-775). Rather than use this information and evidence as a basis for questioning SCE&G’s proposed rates, the Commission approved them without modification and in doing so announced that the “burden of persuasion” rested with intervenors to demonstrate the superiority of their alternative rates. (R. p. 191; Order No. 2018-708, p. 3).

Commissioner Fleming dissented on the issue of avoided capacity costs—the primary subject of this appeal. (R. p. 137; Order No. 2018-322(A), p. 51). She advocated that “the Commission should reject SCE&G’s position that avoided capacity cost should be set at \$0.00 and find that SCE&G should maintain the previously set 2017 avoided capacity cost.” *Id.*

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Any party may appeal from all or any portion of any final order or decision of the Commission regarding a public utility’s rates to the South Carolina Supreme Court. S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-2310; SCACR 203(d)(2)(A). Such appeal is in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380, the statute governing judicial review of a final decision in a contested case. That section provides that the appellate court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5). The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Id.

South Carolina appellate courts will affirm a Commission decision if substantial evidence supports it. *Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 333 S.C. 12, 20, 507 S.E.2d 328, 332 (1998).

The party challenging a Commission decision bears the burden of convincingly proving that the decision is clearly erroneous, arbitrary or capricious, or an abuse of discretion, in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record. *Heater of Seabrook, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of S.C.*, 324 S.C. 56, 60, 478 S.E.2d 826, 828 (1996).

“This deferential standard of review does not mean, however, that the Court will accept an administrative agency’s decision at face value without requiring the agency to explain its reasoning.” *Porter*, 333 S.C. at 21, 507 S.E.2d at 332. The Commission’s findings of fact “must be sufficiently detailed to enable the reviewing court to determine whether the findings are supported by the evidence and whether the law has been properly applied to those findings.” *Able Commc'ns, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 290 S.C. 409, 411, 351 S.E.2d 151, 152 (1986); see S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-2100.

Although no particular format is required for the Commission’s presentation of its findings of fact, “a recital of conflicting testimony followed by a general conclusion is patently insufficient to enable a reviewing court to address the issues.” *Able*, 290 S.C. at 411, 351 S.E.2d at 152. Incorrect factual findings, “previously adopted policy,” or “illusory” supporting rationale also may not serve as the basis for the Commission’s action. *Hamm v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 309 S.C. 282, 289, 422 S.E. 2d 110, 114 (1992) (remanding for further findings Commission decision allowing SCE&G to include lobbying group membership fees in rates because it did not see a reason to deviate from its position in prior cases); *Porter*, 333 S.C. at 26-27, 507 S.E.2d at 335 (reversing Commission decision that found there is no such thing as a negative cash working capital requirement when other regulatory agencies and courts have discussed and applied the

concept); *Heater*, 324 S.C. at 64, 478 S.E.2d at 830 (setting aside a Commission decision to treat certain fees as operating revenues in a rate case where supporting rationale was “illusory”). The “expert” status of the Commission in fact “*heightens*” the Commission’s duty to support its conclusions and ensure that the evidence presented is substantial. *Seabrook Island Prop. Owners Assoc. v. S.C. PSC*, 303 S.C. 493, 497, 401 S.E.2d 672, 674 (1991) (emphasis added).

Similarly, while the Commission has discretion to adopt the rate-setting method it believes is appropriate, that method must comply with the law and it should be supported by substantial evidence and make sense given facts and circumstances of the case. *Heater*, 324 S.C. at 64, 478 S.E.2d at 830.

ARGUMENT

I. The Commission Erred By Improperly Shifting the Burden of Proof From the Utility Company Seeking Approval of a New Avoided Cost Rate Onto Those Challenging the Rate.

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