RECEIVED

AUG 26 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Appellate Case No. 2018-001165

Public Service Commission Docket No. 2018-2-E

South Carolina Coastal Conservation League and
Southern Alliance for Clean Energy,Appellants,

v.

Dominion Energy South Carolina, Inc. f/k/a South Carolina Electric &
Gas Company, CMC Steel South Carolina, South Carolina Energy
Users Committee, South Carolina Solar Business Alliance, LLC,
Southern Current, LLC, and South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff, Respondents;

and

South Carolina Solar Business Alliance, LLC,Appellants,

v.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Although an *amicus curiae* is, literally, a “friend of the court,” the South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff’s (“ORS”) brief in this case improperly seeks reversal of the decisions rendered by the Public Service Commission of South Carolina (“PSC”) in proceedings in which ORS was a party below. Further, ORS’s brief adds nothing to aid the Court in its analysis of the issues raised by the Appellants in this matter and addressed in the briefs filed by Respondent Dominion Energy South Carolina Inc. f/k/a South Carolina Electric & Gas Company (“SCE&G”).¹

Rather, the only issue identified by ORS is its assertion that the Commission erred by improperly shifting the burden of proof from SCE&G onto ORS and the other parties of record – which assertion is based upon an unpreserved argument that seeks to take an existing legal standard regarding the presumptive reasonableness of utility expenses in utility rate relief proceedings and then impermissibly apply that standard to all actions of a utility. **This case is not about the prudence of an expense which a utility has already incurred which it sought to be included in allowable expenses for purposes of determining just and reasonable utility customer service rates. Instead, it is about what price a utility is required to pay to non-utility generators for electric energy and capacity.** As SCE&G has previously noted in its filings with this Court, the PSC correctly recognized that the Appellants and ORS, as proponents of alternative avoided costs that would increase SCE&G’s costs to purchase electricity generated by future Qualifying Facilities (which costs would be passed on to customers in the form of higher rates),

¹ Subsequent to the parties’ submission of their initial briefs in this appeal, Respondent SCE&G changed its legal name to “Dominion Energy South Carolina, Inc.” which has resulted in an amendment of the caption as reflected in the letter from the Clerk of Court dated June 13, 2019. However, because its legal name had not been changed during the relevant proceedings before the PSC or at the time initial briefs were filed, Respondent will continue to refer to itself as “SCE&G” in the instant response for purposes of clarity and to minimize any confusion.

had the burden of persuasion to show their proposals would result in avoided costs that were just, reasonable, and appropriate. The record reflects that ORS and the Appellants failed to meet this burden because they offered only speculative and unreliable testimony that the PSC properly concluded was insufficient to support their proposals. And even assuming ORS and the Appellants did not bear a burden of persuasion, they failed to meet their burden to produce evidence of a tenable basis to raise the specter of imprudence regarding SCE&G's proposed avoided costs. Moreover, SCE&G substantiated its proposed avoided costs to overcome any such specter of imprudence. The PSC's decision to approve SCE&G's proposed avoided costs therefore should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. ORS CANNOT PROVIDE MEANINGFUL ASSISTANCE TO THE COURT INASMUCH AS IT WAS A PARTY TO THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW AND MERELY REPEATS AND RESTATES ISSUES ALREADY ADVANCED BY APPELLANTS.

ORS is not simply an *amicus curiae* who is seeking to provide insight and assistance to the Court in its understanding of this case. Rather, ORS was a party of record to the proceedings below, petitioned the PSC to rehear and reconsider its orders, and therefore was entitled to seek judicial review of the PSC's decisions. *See* Order No. 2018-322(A), p. 3, R. p. 140; ORS Pet. for Reh'g and/or Recons. of Am. Order No. 2018-322(A), R. pp. 540-51; S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 (Supp. 2018); S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-2310 (2015); S.C. Code Ann. § 58-4-80 (2015). However, ORS did not seek judicial review. Instead, it elected to lie in wait.

If ORS believed that the PSC had unfairly and inaccurately applied the law to the detriment of the public interest, then it not only had the ability to appeal the PSC decision by filing a timely notice of appeal, but also had the obligation to do so based upon its statutory "duty and

responsibility” to represent the public interest. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 58-4-10(B) (Supp. 2018).² Even so, ORS decided not to seek appellate review of the PSC’s decisions, which it could have done by filing a timely notice of appeal with this Court. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 58-27-2310 (2015), 58-4-90 (2015). The fact that ORS did not appeal the decisions of the PSC demonstrates that, in representing the public interest, ORS concluded it was appropriate to acquiesce in the final decision of the PSC. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 58-4-90 (2015). *Cf. Lindsay v. Lindsay*, 328 S.C. 329, 338, 491 S.E.2d 583, 588 (Ct.App.1997) (“Failure to challenge the ruling ‘is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal.’”) *quoting Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 432 S.E.2d 482 (1993). And this conclusion on the part of ORS was certainly appropriate given its obligation to observe the “legitimate financial interests of South Carolina businesses, *and* South Carolina utility ratepayers.” *See Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc. v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff*, Op. No. 27905, (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed July 24, 2019) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 30 at 66) (emphasis in original).³

² In its *amicus curiae* brief, ORS included a “Statement of Interest of *Amicus Curiae*” in which it purports to explain ORS’s interest in filing its brief in this matter. Although Rule 213, SCACR requires an applicant **in its motion for leave** to file an *amicus curiae* brief to identify its interest and to state the reasons why such a brief is desirable, including such a “statement of interest” in the *amicus curiae* brief itself is contrary to the rules of this Court. *See* Rule 213, SCACR (stating that an *amicus curiae* brief “shall be limited to argument of the issues on appeal as presented by the parties and shall comply with the requirements of Rules 208(b) and 211.”); Rule 208(b), SCACR (requiring initial briefs to contain 1) a table of contents and cases, 2) a statement of issues on appeal, 3) a statement of the case, 4) the standard of review, 5) an argument, and 6) a conclusion); Rule 211, SCACR (requiring final briefs to be identical to the initial briefs except for updated references to the record on appeal and to correct any obvious typographical errors and misspellings). To the extent that the Court will consider ORS’s “Statement of Interest of *Amicus Curiae*” to present and constitute arguments on the merits of this appeal, and out of an abundance of caution, SCE&G hereby incorporates by reference its Return in Opposition to Motion for Leave to File *Amicus Curiae* Brief of ORS and SCE&G’s accompanying Memorandum in Support, which challenges the interests of ORS in this matter.

³ As the Court is aware, petitions for reconsideration have been filed by ORS and others in that case.

By participating in the PSC proceeding as a party and declining to seek appellate review of these decisions, ORS's participation as an *amicus curiae* does not provide objective assistance to the Court in its consideration of the issues presented by Appellants. See BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 106 (11th ed. 2019) (defining *amicus curiae* as "someone **who is not a party to a lawsuit** but who petitions the court or is requested by the court to file a brief in the action because that person has a strong interest in the subject matter.") (emphasis added). To the contrary, ORS is acting as an advocate and "friend of the appellants" by expressly arguing that the Commission erred in declining to adopt the position ORS advanced below and seeking to have this Court reverse the Commission on that basis. See *Alexander v. Hall*, 64 F.R.D. 152 (D.S.C. 1974); see also 3B C.J.S. Amicus Curiae § 1 ("[a]n amicus is one who, not as party but just as any stranger might, gives information for the assistance of the court on some matter of law in regard to which the court might be doubtful or mistaken rather than one who gives a highly partisan account of the facts"). As a party to the proceedings below and as a named Respondent to this appeal, ORS is hardly a "stranger" to the underlying litigation and its *amicus curiae* brief does not provide any neutral assistance or objectively discuss the issues in this appeal. And ORS does so at the expense of the legitimate financial interests of SCE&G's customers. *Daufuskie, supra*.

In addition, ORS's proposed *amicus curiae* brief is not helpful to this Court as it does not tell the Court anything it does not already know and does not seek to add anything new to this Court's understanding of the issues or discuss anything of legal significance that has not already been addressed by the Appellants and Respondents. Rather, it is merely repetitious and duplicative of the arguments presented in the Appellants' briefs and only seeks to bolster positions already

advanced by Appellants.⁴ For these reasons, the Court should not afford any weight to the ORS *amicus curiae* brief.

II. THE PSC CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT, AS AN ADVOCATE FOR HIGHER AVOIDED COSTS, ORS HAD A BURDEN OF PERSUASION TO DEMONSTRATE THAT ITS PROPOSED AVOIDED COSTS WERE JUST, REASONABLE, AND APPROPRIATE.

ORS recognizes that it cannot aid the Court’s analysis of the issues in this case by a simplistic recitation of the Appellants’ arguments (i.e., that the PSC improperly shifted a burden from SCE&G onto ORS and that the PSC erred by concluding ORS did not present a viable alternative) as these issues have already been identified and fully addressed in the briefs filed by Appellants and SCE&G in this matter.⁵ Nor does ORS present any new facts in the record which bear on the issues in this appeal. Instead, ORS advances a new, unpreserved legal argument and standard for utility expenses which must be rejected by this Court as it is contrary to its holding in *Hamm v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 309 S.C. 282, 422 S.E.2d 110 (1992) (“*Hamm*”).

Specifically, ORS cites *Interstate Commerce Comm’n v. Chicago Great Western Ry. Co.*, 209 U.S. 108 (1908) (“*Chicago Great Western*”) in support of its argument that “all actions of a utility” are presumed to be reasonable. *See Amicus Curiae* Br. p. 5. Thus, ORS implies that *Hamm* is applicable not only to a utility’s expenditures but also to **any** proposal advanced by a utility. Putting aside that this argument was not advanced by ORS or even the Appellants below, and this Court has never applied *Chicago Great Western* in any case – much less in the context of a utility

⁴ Compare *Amicus Curiae* Br. pp. 5-8 (ORS identifying the issue it seeks to address “is whether the [PSC] improperly shifted a burden from the utility onto ORS and interveners (*sic*)” with Appellants South Carolina Coastal Conservation League and Southern Alliance for Clean Energy (collectively, the “Conservation Groups”) Br. pp. 11-19 (arguing the PSC improperly shifted the burden of proof from the utility onto those parties challenging the proposed avoided costs) and with Appellant South Carolina Solar Business Alliance (“Solar Alliance”) Br. pp. 17-20 (asserting the PSC improperly shifted the burden of proof to intervenors).

⁵ See Resp’t SCE&G Final Br. pp. 13-20.

rate making proceeding – it is inapposite here. The issue in *Chicago Great Western* was whether an increase in certain rates **charged** by a railroad carrier to customers was discriminatory. In finding that there was no unlawful discrimination, the United States Supreme Court recognized that the mere changing of a rate by a carrier does not result in a “presumption of wrong” and “the mere fact that a rate has been raised carries with it no presumption that it was not rightfully done.” *Id.* at 119-20. Thus, while the Supreme Court recognized that all “human action”—not just carrier or utility action—has “those presumptions of good faith and integrity,” a carrier proposing to change a rate “must, when properly called upon, be able to give good reason therefore.” *Id.*

Unlike the facts in *Chicago Great Western*, here SCE&G was seeking to change an avoided cost amount it *paid* (i.e., the then-existing avoided costs) to Qualifying Facilities with ORS advocating that SCE&G should be required to pay Qualifying Facilities **more** for the power required to be purchased under PURPA and resulting in **higher** rates for customers.⁶ *Cf.*, *Daufuskie, supra*. If anything, *Chicago Great Western* supports the conclusion that ORS had the same burden as SCE&G – to give a good reason for its proposal and thereby meet its burden to prove that its proposed avoided costs were reasonable. Regardless, *Hamm* does not stand for the proposition that **any** proposal advanced by a utility is presumed to be reasonable and that all any contesting party has to do is to raise a “tenable basis for raising the specter of imprudence” to overcome that presumption. To the contrary, *Hamm* applies to the reasonableness of a utility’s **expenses** it seeks to recover through rates and is not applicable to the PSC’s determination of prospective avoided costs, such as those at issue in the proceedings below.⁷

⁶ These avoided costs represent the amount future Qualifying Facilities will be paid for the electric energy and capacity they may supply and are based on reasonable and appropriate estimates of the incremental energy and capacity costs SCE&G will avoid in the future if it is required to make the purchases. *See* Resp’t SCE&G Final Brief pp. 4-10.

⁷ *See* Resp’t SCE&G Final Br. pp. 13-16.

Accordingly, SCE&G's proposed avoided costs were not blanketed with the presumption of reasonableness contemplated by *Hamm*, and the Conservation Groups and the Solar Alliance can point to nothing in the PSC Orders concluding SCE&G was entitled to, or received, a presumption of reasonableness.⁸ And for this same reason, ORS did not merely have "to demonstrate a tenable basis for raising the specter of imprudence" regarding SCE&G's proposal as it suggests is required by *Hamm* because there were no expenses presumed to be reasonable and, thus, no "specter of imprudence" to be raised.⁹ Instead, each party, including ORS, that proposed a methodology to calculate SCE&G's avoided cost had the burden to persuade the PSC that their proposal would result in just, reasonable, and appropriate amounts to be paid to new Qualifying Facilities for the energy and capacity they may provide.¹⁰ See *DIRECTV, Inc. & Subsidiaries v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 421 S.C. 59, 78, 804 S.E.2d 633, 643 (Ct.App.2017) ("In general, the party asserting the affirmative issue in an adjudicatory administrative proceeding has the burden of proof"); *Leventis v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 340 S.C. 118, 132-33, 530 S.E.2d 643, 651 (Ct.App.2000) *citing and quoting* 2 Am.Jur.2d Administrative Law § 360

⁸ In fact, the only mention of any presumption was the PSC's statement that the Solar Alliance contended "using the approved avoided capacity factor from the most recent fuel case should enjoy a presumption of reasonableness." [Order No. 2018-708 p. 4, R. p. 192.].

⁹ In addition to mis-stating the scope of the presumption in *Hamm*, ORS also seeks to have this Court apply a different standard than that established in the Court's decision in that case. Instead of raising the "specter of imprudence" required to challenge a utility's past **expenditures** for purposes of determining future rates to be paid to a utility by its customers, ORS asserts that one need only make "a reasonable challenge" or "present[] a reasonable and well-founded challenge," *Amicus Br.* pp. 6, 7, and 8, in order to shift to the utility the burden of proving that a higher future charge sought to be received by a vendor which will be passed on to utility customers is not reasonable. Beyond the fact that this argument was not presented by any party below, this new standard proposed by ORS turns the regulatory paradigm on its head because it ignores the obligation of a utility to obtain goods and services at the lowest reasonable cost and the obligation of ORS to observe the legitimate financial interests of ratepayers.

¹⁰ See Resp't SCE&G Final Br. pp. 16-20.

(1994) (“Generally the burden of proof is on the party asserting the affirmative issue in an adjudicatory administrative proceeding”).

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